STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

**RECEIVED**

**Apr 22 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

Appeal from Horry County

Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JAMES R. ROSENBAUM,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-002240

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Did the trial judge err when he denied Appellant immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act where the undisputed evidence showed Appellant killed the deceased in his home after the deceased attempted to sexually assault Appellant's girlfriend?

II. Did the trial judge err in permitting the state to elicit testimony from Appellant that he was gang raped in the military where the testimony was not relevant and the danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighed any probative value?

III. Did the trial judge err in permitting the state to elicit testimony from Appellant told the jailers that he did not want to be in the same cell as any African Americans where the testimony was not relevant and the danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighed any probative value?

IV. Did the trial judge err in failing to instruct the jury that statements may be used only against the person who made them where the statements of the non-testifying co-defendant were admitted into evidence prior to the co-defendant entering a guilty plea and were allowed to be considered by the jury?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 29, 2017, a Horry County grand jury indicted Appellant for murder (2017-GS-26-5269). R. 1000. On June 18, 2018, Appellant, through counsel, moved for immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act. R. 985. Likewise, Diane Durkin, Appellant's co-defendant, filed a motion for immunity pursuant to the Act. R. 3, ll. 5-8. On July 16-17, 2018, the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson presided over a hearing on the motions. R. 1. Nancy R. Livesay and Christopher D. Helms represented the state. R. 1. Thomas Jarrett Bouchette and Johnny Gardner represented Durkin. R. 1. Alex Hyman represented Appellant. R. 2. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Culbertson denied immunity to Appellant and Durkin. R. 293, l. 19 – R. 294, l. 21. On July 24, 2018, Appellant filed a motion for reconsideration. R. 988. The state responded to the motion on July 25, 2018. Without hearing argument on the motion, Judge Culbertson denied the request for reconsideration on August 15, 2018. R. 998.

Thereafter, the state, represented by Jimmy A. Richardson, II, and Helms, called the case to trial before Judge Culbertson and a jury on December 3-10, 2018. R. 249. Alex Hyman and Travis Hyman represented Appellant. R. 249. Bouchette and Gardner continued to represent Durkin. R. 250.

Immediately prior to closing arguments, Durkin entered a plea to voluntary manslaughter with a negotiated sentencing range of five to fifteen years pursuant to North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25 (1970). R. 875, l. 3 – R. 888, l. 14. Judge Culbertson sentenced Durkin to fifteen years imprisonment. R. 888, ll. 11-13.

Thereafter, Appellant's trial continued. At its conclusion, the jury found Appellant guilty of voluntary manslaughter. R. 983, ll. 7-11. Judge Culbertson sentenced Appellant to fifteen years imprisonment. R. 984, ll. 12-18; R. 1002.

On December 18, 2018, Appellant served his notice of appeal. This brief follows.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“A claim of immunity under the Act requires a pretrial determination using a preponderance of the evidence standard, which [the appellate court] reviews under an abuse of discretion standard of review.” State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013).

“An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” State v. Jones, 416 S.C. 283, 289, 786 S.E.2d 132, 136 (2016).

## ARGUMENT

I. The trial judge erred when he denied Appellant immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act where the undisputed evidence showed Appellant killed the deceased in his home after the deceased attempted to sexually assault Appellant's girlfriend.

### **Relevant facts**

#### *The evidence*

Appellant and his girlfriend, Diane Durkin, moved to Horry County in March 2015. R. 5, ll. 4-6; R. 105, ll. 11-14. Later that year, Durkin met Roy Davis, the deceased, through a mutual friend, Kelly Jordan. R. 8, ll. 1-9. The three used drugs together at Jordan's home. R. 8, ll. 8-9. Durkin learned the deceased worked on a nearby farm. R. 9, ll. 10-12. In fact, the deceased told her that she could probably get a job on the farm. R. 9, ll. 6-9. Later, Durkin drove the deceased to another residence not far away. R. 9, l. 18 – R. 10, l. 4. The deceased went into the residence, purchased drugs, and returned to Durkin's car. R. 10, ll. 8-18. The two returned to Jordan's house. R. 10, ll. 17-18. After the deceased and Jordan used the drugs, Durkin drove the deceased to his home on the farm. R. 10, l. 21 – R. 11, l. 2. Over the course of the next few months, Durkin pursued a job on the farm. R. 11, ll. 13-21.

On July 11, 2016, Durkin went to the farm to inquire about a job around 7 p.m. R. 13, ll. 10-16. After talking to the farm's owner, Durkin saw the deceased on a tractor. R. 15, ll. 1-6. The deceased flagged her down and asked for a ride. R. 15, ll. 7-10; R. 122, ll. 21-23. Durkin agreed, and the deceased got into her car. R. 15, ll. 14-16. When the deceased asked for \$20, Durkin called Rosenbaum to obtain his consent. R. 16, ll. 6-8; R. 122, ll. 16-23. Durkin stopped at a gas station where she withdrew \$20 from an ATM, which she gave to the deceased. R. 16,

ll. 21-22. Durkin then took the deceased to the home of the drug dealer where she had previously taken him. R. 16, l. 23 – R. 17, l. 6.

During this time, Appellant, with the intention of working out, drove to his local gym. R. 123, l. 15 – R. 124, l. 15; R. 124, ll. 22-23. However, when Appellant saw the number of cars in the parking lot, he decided to return home where he could work out using his personal equipment. R. 126, ll. 13-22; R. 128, ll. 12-16.

Durkin then went home. R. 18, ll. 5-6. Approximately fifteen minutes later, the deceased arrived at her door. R. 18, ll. 12-13. When the deceased requested she drive him home, she refused. R. 18, ll. 18-23. However, Durkin agreed to allow the deceased to enter her home for a cool glass of water. R. 19, ll. 3-7. Durkin returned to her household chores while the deceased drank his water in the kitchen. R. 19, ll. 12-15. When she returned to the kitchen, she found the deceased naked. R. 19, ll. 16-20. Durkin told him to “get the fuck out.” R. 19, ll. 21-23. Unfazed, the deceased said, “Give me that pussy.” R. 19, ll. 24-25. Further, the deceased “clocked [her] in the eye, backhanded [her] across the face” causing her to fall to the floor. R. 20 ll.1-4. As the deceased got on top of Durkin, she kicked and screamed to get him off of her. R. 20, ll. 4-5. Durkin thought “he was either going to kill [her] or rape [her].” R. 22, ll. 7-10.

While Durkin was screaming, Appellant arrived. R. 22, ll. 20-22; R. 130, ll. 14-18. When Appellant entered, he saw “a naked man pulling her hair” and “trying to force her to perform oral sex.” R. 135, ll. 3-5. Appellant used a baseball bat to get the deceased off of Durkin. R. 23, ll. 12-13; R. 136, ll. 17-20. He hit the deceased approximately three times in the head before the deceased finally got off of Durkin. R. 137, ll. 3-9. The deceased responded to the first hit by telling Appellant “he was going to fucking kill [him].” R. 137, ll. 17-19. Thereafter, the deceased and Appellant struggled over control of the baseball bat. R. 23, ll. 12-

15; R. 138, ll. 16-18. The struggle went into the kitchen where knives were in the sink and the drawers – easily accessible to the deceased. R. 142, ll. 3-18. During the melee, Durkin momentarily got the bat, which she used to strike the deceased in the legs and groin. R. 24, ll. 5-18.

At Appellant's request, Durkin got a pellet gun for Appellant. R. 144, l. 18 – R. 145, 1; R. 146, ll. 4-8. Appellant shot the deceased with the pellet gun. R. 146, ll. 9-10. Again, the deceased was unfazed. R. 149, ll. 3-4. Appellant used the butt of the gun to hit the deceased in the chest in an effort to subdue him. R. 150, ll. 9-11. During the few times that Appellant was able to overpower the deceased, he would insist that the deceased not move. R. 152, ll. 6-11. As to be expected during such a fracas, both men threw punches, and the deceased even bit Appellant's finger. R. 167, ll. 9-14.

Durkin called 911, begging for help from the authorities. R. 23, ll. 15-17. At some point, the deceased tried to leave the home where Durkin and Appellant lived. R. 63, l. 16 – R. 64, l. 3. Both Durkin and Appellant explained they were trying to detain the deceased until the police could arrive and arrest him. R. 64, ll. 1-17; R. 152, ll. 12-18.

When everyone had calmed down to some degree, Appellant took a photograph of the deceased because he feared the deceased would flee before the police arrived. R. 155, ll. 12-20. Appellant admitted to the state that when he took the photograph, the threat that the deceased had posed was "eliminated." R. 173, ll. 17-21.

Additionally, Appellant called his friend Paul to ask for his help because it was taking the police an inordinate amount of time to arrive to the call for help. R. 154, ll. 4-12. As soon as the deceased saw Appellant on the phone with someone, the deceased attempted to make his getaway. R. 155, ll. 3-4. Appellant tackled him. R. 155, ll. 5-6. Appellant then held the

deceased against the wall. R. 156, ll. 18-20. Appellant then took the deceased down to the ground. R. 157, ll. 19-20. Both men were out of breath. R. 157, ll. 20-21. Appellant stood up, and the deceased stood up. R. 157, l. 21. As the deceased tried to walk, he collapsed. R. 157, l. 22.

At all times during this ordeal, Appellant was in fear for his and Durkin's safety. R. 168, ll. 3-20.

### *Arguments on the motion for immunity*

After Appellant and Durkin presented their evidence, the state made "some sort of motion kind of similar to a directed verdict." R. 231, ll. 12-15. The state argued Appellant could not seek immunity pursuant to section 16-11-450(A) because the deceased "was invited in, so he had the right to be there." R. 232, ll. 10-12. Relying upon State v. Oates, 421 S.C. 1, 803 S.E.2d 911 (Ct. App. 2017), the state argued the Court held "that once there's no longer a force or there's no longer a threat then the attack has to stop." R. 231, l. 25 – R. 232, l. 4. Accordingly, the state argued Appellant was not immune from prosecution under the Act because the deceased no longer posed a threat to Appellant when he was trying to leave out the front door. R. 232, l. 6 – R. 233, l. 16. According to the state, "between the time [the deceased] is there and trying to get out the door he is killed in his attempt of trying to leave the residence." R. 233, ll. 16-18. In the state's estimation this was "not what stand your ground was meant for. Stand your ground was meant for being able to protect yourself ... but then when the attack ends it's no longer stand your ground." R. 233, ll. 19-24.

Put simply, the state argued that Appellant engaged in an unlawful killing because the deceased "was down, unarmed, trying to leave" when he was killed. R. 234, ll. 5-7. According to the state, it was no longer a fight for life. R. 234, ll. 12-13. Further on this point, the state

argued that Appellant's posture switched from a defensive one to an offensive one. R. 234, ll. 15-21. This was so because the deceased was not a threat when "he was going for the door." R. 235, ll. 6-9. In other words, it was the state's contention that Appellant brought on the difficulty after the deceased was subdued. R. 245, ll. 1-8. Because Appellant exercised his right to effectuate a citizen's arrest, he was "bringing on whatever happens next." R. 245, ll. 8-10. According to the state, the deceased was "not doing anything wrong" when he was trying to leave, and Appellant was at fault for "bringing on whatever altercation and whatever happen[ed] next" because Appellant attempted to stop the deceased and hold him for the police to arrive. R. 245, ll. 13-16.

Appellant argued that "[h]ad [Appellant] had a gun he would have had the right to go in and presumably under the Castle Doctrine and, and to shoot him and kill him on the spot if he believed that he was protecting another person from great bodily injury and himself from great bodily injury." R. 241, ll. 18-22. Appellant emphasized that the uncontradicted testimony showed Appellant was restraining the deceased in anticipation of the police arriving and arresting the deceased. R. 242, l. 22 – R. 243, l. 6. Further, Appellant argued that the deceased was no longer an invitee because Durkin rescinded her invitation and the deceased committed a crime while in the residence. R. 244, ll. 13-19.

### ***Ruling***

At the conclusion of the hearing, the trial judge indicated that he was denying immunity to Appellant. The judge determined Appellant had not satisfied his burden of proof because Appellant had not presented "evidence as to the manner of death." R. 246, ll. 24-25. Specifically, the judge indicated he did not know if the deceased died as a result of "the first blow when [Appellant] walked into the mobile home" or "if it was the blow to the leg when Ms.

Durkin hit him as, under the state's theory, he was trying to leave." R. 246, l. 25 – R. 247, l. 3. Additionally, the judge stated he did not know if the deceased died from wounds suffered from "a combination of the entire fight." R. 247, ll. 3-4. Based upon Appellant's failure to present "evidence as to the manner of death," the judge denied the motion for immunity. R. 247, ll. 6-7.

Importantly, the judge indicated that he agreed that if Appellant "walked in, witnessed this sexual assault, hit him in the head, that blow caused the death right there, there would be an immunity." R. 247, ll. 7-10. However, the judge was convinced that he must deny immunity because the Act failed to "say anything about how much force you can use when you're trying to detain somebody until the police arrive." R. 247, ll. 13-15. In fact, the judge indicated he did not know the answer to how much a force a person could use when executing a citizen's arrest. R. 247, l. 15. He stressed this point: "I mean, where you come in and you witness a sexual assault and you try to hold the person there until the police arrive, how much force can you use, I don't know, but that's for another date and time and that's why we'll have a trial in this case." R. 247, ll. 16-21.

After the hearing, Appellant filed a motion for reconsideration. Specifically, Appellant noted that although Durkin invited the deceased into her home, she rescinded the invitation when she told him to "get the fuck out." R. 988. To this point, Appellant implored the judge to grant immunity pursuant to section 16-11-440(A) of the South Carolina Code. R. 988. Specifically, Appellant argued the deceased's failure to leave the residence meant he was committing an unlawful entry under the Act. R. 988. The uncontroverted testimony at the hearing was that Durkin requested the deceased leave, the deceased was partially clothed, and the deceased attempted to sexually assault Durkin; thus, Appellant was entitled to the presumption of reasonable fear of imminent peril or death pursuant to section 16-11-440(A). R. 988. Conceding

that the presumption could be rebutted, Appellant argued the state failed to present any evidence – or argument drawn from the evidence presented by Appellant – to rebut the presumption. R. 988. The judge summarily denied the motion. R. 998.

## **Discussion**

### *Protection of Persons and Property Act*

In 2006, the South Carolina General Assembly adopted the Protection of Persons and Property Act. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-410, et seq. The General Assembly explained its intent was to “codify the common law Castle Doctrine which recognizes that a person’s home is his castle and to extend the doctrine to include an occupied vehicle and the person’s place of business.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(A). “The General Assembly [found] that it is proper for law-abiding citizens to protect themselves, their families, and others from intruders and attackers without fear of prosecution or civil action for acting in defense of themselves and others.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(B). The General Assembly recognized “that persons residing in or visiting this State have a right to expect to remain unmolested and safe within their homes, businesses, and vehicles.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(D). Finally, the General Assembly explained “that no person or victim of crime should be required to surrender his personal safety to a criminal, nor should a person or victim be required to needlessly retreat in the face of intrusion or attack.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(E).

“A claim of immunity under the Act requires a pretrial determination using a preponderance of the evidence standard.” State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013). During the pretrial hearing, a defendant must set out “a valid case of self-defense,” excluding the duty to retreat prong, “and the trial court must necessarily consider the elements of

self-defense in determining a defendant's entitlement to the Act's immunity." Id. at 371, 752 S.E.2d at 266.

To establish self-defense, four elements must be present: (1) the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty; (2) the defendant must have been in actual imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury; (3) if his defense is based upon his belief of imminent danger, a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief, or if the defendant was actually in imminent danger, the circumstances were such as would warrant a man of ordinary prudence, firmness and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from serious bodily harm or losing his own life; and (4) the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in the particular instance. State v. Hendrix, 270 S.C. 653, 657-658, 244 S.E.2d 503, 505-506 (1978); see also State v. Davis, 282 SC. 45, 46, 317 S.E.2d 452, 453 (1984).

Additionally, the Act contemplates immunity when a person acts in defense of another. "Under the theory of defense of others, one is not guilty of taking the life of an assailant who assaults a friend, relative, or bystander if that friend, relative, or bystander would likewise have the right to take the life of the assailant in self-defense." State v. Long, 325 S.C. 59, 64, 480 S.E.2d 62, 64 (1997); see also Douglas v. State, 332 S.C. 67, 73, 504 S.E.2d 307, 310 (1998). When a person acts in defense of another, the person "is in the same situation and upon the same plane as those who act in defense of themselves." State v. Hewitt, 205 S.C. 207, 207, 31 S.E.2d 257, 258 (1944). Only those facts "which excuse the killing in defense of self likewise excuse a killing in defense of [another]." Id.; see also, State v. Harvey, 110 S.C. 274, 96 S.E. 399, 400 (1918)

(noting that “[w]hile a man may take life in defense of himself or another, yet the slayer, or the person in whose behalf the slayer strikes, must not only be without fault in provoking the difficulty, but there must be a necessity to kill”); State v. Norris, 253 S.C. 31, 38, 168 S.E.2d 564, 567 (1969) (holding “[t]he right of the father to defend his daughter is coextensive with the right of the daughter to defend herself”).

The right of one to justify a slaying on the ground that it was necessary in defense of another person stands upon the same plane or footing as, and is coextensive with, the right of the person to whose aid he or she goes, under the existing circumstances of the particular occasion; or as is sometimes stated, the right to justify killing in defense of another depends upon the same conditions as would be necessary to excuse such other person under the plea of self-defense.

40 Am.Jr.2d Homicide § 168 (2014). In other words, “[t]he right is commensurate with self-defense, and every fact requisite to excuse a killing in the defense of self must be present in order to excuse a killing in defense of another.” Id.

The defense of others imposes the “alter ego” rule, meaning “an intervenor who used deadly force to defend a person not entitled to use deadly force himself would be held criminally liable.” Marco F. Bendinelli, James T. Edsall, Defense of Others: Origins, Requirements, Limitations and Ramifications, 5 Regent U. L. Rev. 153, 153 (Spring 1995).<sup>1</sup> “[A] person is justified or excused in killing in defense of another person when, *and only when*, the circumstances are such that the latter would be justified or excused if *he* had committed the homicide in his own defense.” Id. at 158 (quoting Lovejoy v. State, 15 So.2d 300, 301 (Ala. Ct. App. 1943)) (emphasis in the original). When a person interferes in a difficulty on behalf of another, “he may lawfully do in another’s defense what such other might lawfully do in his own

---

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