STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM Horry COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
The Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-002240

THE STATE,RESPONDENT,

v.

JAMES R. ROSENBAUM,APPELLANT.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3713

JIMMY RICHARDSON
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1276
Conway, SC 29528
(843) 255-5880

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
MAR 03 2020
SC Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

I

The trial judge properly denied Appellant immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act after finding, based on the evidence, that Appellant failed to meet his burden of proof.

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in failing to grant him immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Act. The State disagrees. As stated below, the trial judge properly denied immunity based on the evidence presented.

Whether a defendant is entitled to immunity under the Act must be decided prior to trial if either party moves for a determination regarding the Act's application to a defendant's case. State v. Duncan, 392 S.C. 404, 410, 709 S.E.2d 662, 665 (2011). "[W]hen a party raises the question of statutory immunity prior to trial, the proper standard for the circuit court to use in determining immunity under the Act is a preponderance of the evidence." Id. at 411, 709 S.E.2d at 665. S.C. Code § 16-11-440 states:

- (A) A person is presumed to have a reasonable fear of imminent peril of death or great bodily injury to himself or another person when using deadly force that is indented or likely to cause death or great bodily injury to another person if the person:
 - (1) Against whom the deadly force is used is in the process of unlawfully and forcefully entering, or has unlawfully and forcibly entered a dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle, or if he removes or is attempting to remove another person against his will from the dwelling, residence or occupied vehicle; and
 - (2) Who uses deadly forces knows or have reason to believe that an unlawful and forcible entry or unlawful and forcible act is occurring or has occurred.
- (C) A person who is not engaged in an unlawful activity and who is attacked in another place where he has a right to be, including, but not limited to, his place of business, has no duty to retreat and has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, if he reasonably believes it is necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself or another person or to prevent the commission of a violent crime as defined in Section 16-1-60.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440.

“A claim of immunity under the Act requires a pretrial determination using a preponderance of the evidence standard, which this court reviews under an abuse of discretion standard of review.” State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013). “Section 16–11–450 [2015] provides immunity from prosecution if a person is found to be justified in using deadly force under the Act.” Id. “Such immunity is predicated on an accused demonstrating the elements of self-defense to the satisfaction of the trial court” Id. at 372, 752 S.E.2d at 267. If a defendant fails to make such a showing, then his claim of self-defense “presents a quintessential jury question, which, most assuredly, is not a situation warranting immunity from prosecution.” Id.

Thus, a defendant seeking immunity under the Act must prove he was acting in self-defense by demonstrating: (1) he was not without fault in bringing on the difficulty of the situation; (2) he was in imminent danger of death or serious bodily injury, or believed he was in such danger; (3) if the defense is based on an actual belief of imminent danger, a reasonable person of ordinary firmness and courage would have held the same belief. Id. at 374, 752 S.E.2d at 268, n.8. However, the fourth element of self-defense—the duty to retreat—is excused under the Act. Id.

In State v. Oates, 421 S.C. 1, 803 S.E.2d 911 (2017), this Court considered the limits of the Act. In Oates, the named defendant sought immunity after shooting a victim with whom he was involved in an altercation. 421 S.C. at 7, 803 S.E.2d at 914. During the conflict, which originated over Oates’s attempt to tow his victim’s vehicle, it was uncontested that the victim at one point pulled out a gun and acted in such a way that Oates appeared fearful. Id. at 8–9, 803 S.E.2d at 915–16. However, the parties disagreed over the actions immediately preceding

Oates's use of deadly force: Oates claimed he shot his victim when the latter attempted to forcibly remove him from his tow truck, but the State's witnesses claimed that Oates drew his own weapon, causing victim to put his own gun away and literally walk or run from Appellant at which time. Id. at 9–11, 803 S.E.2d at 916–17. Video evidence confirmed the witnesses' testimonies and a forensic pathologist confirmed that five of the victim's six bullet wounds occurred on the posterior portion of his body. Id.

Ultimately, the Court affirmed the trial judge's denial of immunity under the Act, under both S.C. Code Ann. §§ 16-11-440(A) and (C). The trial court noted found Oates failed to meet his burden of proving he was entitled to the defense, finding persuasive the State's evidence that the conflict between Oates and his victim had abated at the moment Oates used deadly force. Based on the deferential standard of review, the Court found the trial court's ruling was supported by evidence and thus proper.

Citizen's Arrest

Initially, the State notes that Appellant's argument regarding the trial judge's "failure" to grant immunity based on the law of citizens' arrest is not preserved for review. Neither defendant actually argued for it; they merely referenced a general right to detain an assailant until law enforcement can arrive. The actual doctrine of citizen's arrest, including its assorted elements, was not pled to the judge and is not preserved for appellate review. See State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912–13 (Ct. App. 2004) (stating that in order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity.) Further, citizen's arrest is enumerated in the Act as a ground justifying a pretrial grant of immunity.

Regardless, citizen's arrest similar to the Act, limits the use of force to "reasonable means to effect the [citizen's] arrest." See State v. Cooney, 320 S.C. 107, 111, 463 S.E.2d 597, 599 (1995). As explained below, the trial judge did not err in finding the defendants failed to prove they used reasonable force against Victim.

Analysis

Appellant's argues that because the defendants presented "undisputed" evidence that they feared for their safety, they were entitled to act in self-defense and claim immunity under the Act. Appellant wholly ignores three critical considerations. First, it was the defendants' burden to prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, they were entitled to immunity. Because the burden was on defendants, it was up to them to present enough evidence to meet their burden. In such a situation, even undisputed evidence from a defendant may not satisfy his burden of proof.

Second, the evidence presented at the hearing was certainly not "undisputed." In fact, the defendants' testimonies wer often contradictory and greatly undermined their credibility. For example, Durkin admitted to telling officers she never met Victim prior to the attack, yet at trial admitted to knowing him, lending him money, and driving him to pick up drugs. Appellant also made extremely inconsistent claims: he initially told officers that he was forced to constantly hit Victim because his blows "didn't faze him" and that he was a threat throughout the entire fight, swearing and shouting threats. By the time of the hearing, Appellant conceded Victim was beaten to a point he was no longer a threat and that he did not continuously spew threats at Appellant. Notably, Appellant felt comfortable enough with the situation that he took a break to use his phone to video Appellant's battered and slumped body.

Additionally, the defendants' testimonies were also disputed by the other evidence presented at the hearing. Ridgely noted that, contrary to the defendants' claims, a mattress had

not been on their living room floor for “months.” Finally, and most importantly, the 9-1-1 recording disputed the defendant’s claims that Victim was only hit a few times or that he was a threat necessitating continued force; Victim is heard constantly throughout the recording begging for mercy while the continuous clang of a metal bat is heard impacting his body.

The third critical consideration ignored in Appellant’s brief is that, as explained in Oates, a person’s right to use deadly force under the Act is not unlimited; a person may not use deadly force against another if there is no longer an imminent threat of serious harm. This consideration is evidenced in the trial judge’s observation that the Act does not have language instructing on how much force can be used to detain a person. The trial judge was correct: the Act has no language pertaining to any sort of arrest/detaining scenario and thus is excluded. Regardless, evidence was presented at the trial indicating Victim was incapacitated and immobile, much less a threat to the defendants. Thus, the trial judge properly found the defendants failed to prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, that they were entitled to immunity.

II

The trial judge properly allowed the State to introduce evidence of Appellant's status as a victim of sexual assault and his jailhouse statements as probative evidence of a racial motive for his crime. (Appellant's Issues II and III)

Appellant argues the trial judge improperly admitted evidence of his sexual assault as well as his jailhouse statements in which he stated he did not want to be housed with African-Americans. The State disagrees with this allegation of error. Both statements were admitted as probative evidence of his motive for killing Victim.

“The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge, whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Black, 400 S.C. 10, 16, 732 S.E.2d 880, 884 (2012). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 477–78, 716 S.E.2d 91, 93 (2011).

“Evidence is relevant if it tends to establish or make more or less probable some matter in issue upon which it directly or indirectly bears.” State v. Alexander, 303 S.C. 377, 380, 401 S.E.2d 146, 148 (1991); see Rule 401, SCRE (defining relevant evidence as “evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence”). If a piece of evidence could assist the jury in arriving at the truth of an issue, it is relevant and should be admitted during trial. State v. Schmidt, 288 S.C. 301, 303, 342 S.E.2d 401, 403 (1986). However, even relevant evidence may be excluded “if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or

by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.” Rule 403, SCRE.

Appellant argues the admission of evidence of his sexual assault while in the military and his request to not be placed in a cell with African-Americans was irrelevant to his guilt and thus the danger of unfair prejudice from the admission of the information substantially outweighed any probative value. However, evidence of Appellant’s racism was critical in this case. This case did not involve a question of identity: the parties all agreed Appellant and Durkin were the actors involved in Victim’s death. Instead, guilt hinged on two considerations: the motive for attacking/killing Victim—self-defense or an intentional effort to cause malicious injury—and the intermingled issue regarding the propriety and degree of force used against Victim. Appellant’s racism is an important consideration for both of these issues.

As noted above, Appellant’s potential racism first surfaces during the 9-1-1 recording. After beating Victim to death, he refers to him as a “f***ing n***er.” At that moment, the State was presented with evidence that a racial component to the crime could have existed, especially given that the State also possessed evidence indicating this was an intentional killing and not self-defense. The incidents presented were additional, powerful evidence that racism may have guided Appellant’s actions; Appellant testified that his sexual assault in 1980 was still impacting him at the time of trial twenty-eight years later: he received full disability compensation from the military and still possessed post-traumatic stress disorder from the incident. Appellant’s other statement, made hours after the crime, indicated that a primary concern of his at the detention center was not to share a cell with any African-Americans.⁶

⁶ In his brief, Appellant again argues that he made the statement out of fear of being incarcerated with potential family members of Victim. It is the State’s contention that this explanation, even if true, still indicates racist attitudes and assumptions by Appellant.

Here, it was the State's burden to prove Appellant's actions were not in self-defense, but constituted an intentional effort to harm Victim, or at the very least Appellant's actions involved a degree of force which exceeded the needs of the situation. Evidence of Appellant's racism, first heard during the 9-1-1 recording, certainly made it more probable that Appellant's actions were not self-defense and were appropriately admitted for such purposes. See Rule 401, SCRE (defining relevant evidence as "evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence"). Because this evidence was a critical consideration for evaluating the propriety of Appellant's actions, its probative value eclipsed any potential for unfair prejudice. See Rule 403, SCRE. Accordingly, the trial judge did not err in admitting this evidence.

III

The trial judge properly instructed the jury to disregard evidence of the codefendant's guilt, including her self-incriminating statements, and to base a determination of his guilt based solely on the evidence presented concerning his guilt.

Appellant claims the trial judge erred in failing to disregard evidence of the codefendant's guilt. The State disagrees; the record indicates the trial judge provided a proper charge which exceeded the charge requested by Appellant. Regardless, as noted below, the issue is not preserved for review because Appellant failed to object to the charge provided by the judge.

Issue Preservation

In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912–13 (Ct. App. 2004); see also JEAN HOEFER TOAL ET AL., APPELLATE PRACTICE IN SOUTH CAROLINA 57 (2nd ed. 2002) (identifying the four requirements that must be met in order for an issue to be properly preserved for appellate review). “If a party fails to properly object, the party is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal.” State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 58–59, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005).

In the instant case, any objection to the trial judge's jury charge is not preserved for appellate review. Prior to Durkin's decision to plead guilty, Appellant's counsel requested a limiting instruction which the trial judge deemed unnecessary at that time due to his strict enforcement of Bruton. After Durkin pled, the trial judge proposed a jury charge which completely divorced Durkin's and Appellant's cases and removed any language which would

allow the jury to impute the guilt of one defendant to the other. No objection was made to the proposed charge, nor was any objection lodged after the charge was presented to the jury. Accordingly, Appellant's objection to the adequacy of the charge is not preserved for review by this Court. See Johnson, 363 S.C. 58–59, 609 S.E.2d 523.

Analysis

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